IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MATTHEW AHO,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Beverly G. Grant

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF APPEAL

Mr. Aho was charged with theft of a firearm and unlawful possession of that firearm, committed November 7, 2010. When the defendant moved to dismiss after the State rested, arguing that the State had failed to prove that the firearm was the .357 specifically alleged in the information, the State was allowed to amend the information to allege that the firearm was a 10 mm. Yet the jury instructions subsequently told the jury it could rely on "any" firearm for the theft count, and on the possession count, that the defendant was guilty if he possessed "a" firearm. The charging documents failed to provide notice, the information was improperly amended, and at a minimum, Mr. Aho was entitled to a unanimity instruction, and its absence was harmful and requires reversal.

On Mr. Aho's second charge of unlawful possession of a firearm, committed January 28, 2011, the State produced evidence of a 9 mm handgun found in the defendant's girlfriend's car, and an Enfield rifle that Mr. Aho gave to her father a month previously. When the jury inquired during deliberations if both the firearms were relevant to this possession charge, the prosecutor asked the court to answer yes, and the court told the jury to refer to its instructions. The jury instructions only generally stated that the

defendant was guilty if he possessed "a firearm," and the jury returned 6 minutes later with its verdicts. Where the Enfield rifle was not operable, the State failed to prove the alternative means in the instructions, and the defendant's right to jury unanimity on the criminal act was also violated, requiring reversal.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The charging documents and the entire record in Mr.
 Aho's case failed to provide notice of the charges in counts 4 and 5.
- 2. The trial court erred in allowing the State, after it had rested, to amend the original information to change the firearm specified in the information from a .357 to a 10 mm.
- 3. The defendant's <u>Petrich</u> right to express assurances of jury unanimity was violated on counts 4 and 5.
- 4. Mr. Aho was convicted of an uncharged crime in counts 4 and 5.
- 5. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Aho's motion to dismiss for the State's failure to make out a *prima facie* case.
- 6. On count 8, the State failed to produce substantial evidence to support the alternative statutory means of "possessing," "owning," and "controlling" a device that was a "firearm" on or about January 28, 2011.

- 7. Mr. Aho's right to jury unanimity under <u>Petrich</u> was violated as to count 8.
- 8. The trial court erred in answering the jury's inquiry # 2, which pertains to the unanimity errors as to the means, and the facts, in count 8.
- 9. The trial court erred in instructing the jury that a firearm is any gun-like device that is not a "toy."
- 10. The trial court violated the time for trial rule by continuing Mr. Aho's trial date on the basis of court congestion.
- 11. The trial court erroneously sentenced Mr. Aho to three consecutive terms for his three firearm-related offenses.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Were the charging documents and the entire record in Mr. Aho's case inadequate to provide notice of the charges of theft of a firearm and possession of the firearm, as charged in counts 4 and 5?
- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in allowing the State, after it had rested, to amend the original information to change the firearm specified in the information from a .357 to a 10 mm?

- 3. Was Mr. Aho's <u>Petrich</u> right to express assurances of jury unanimity violated on counts 4 and 5?
- 4. Was Mr. Aho convicted of an uncharged crime in counts 4 and 5?
- 5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Aho's motion to dismiss for the State's failure to make out a *prima facie* case?
- 6. On count 8, did the State fail to produce substantial evidence to support the alternative statutory means of "possessing," "owning," and "controlling" a device that was a "firearm" on or about January 28, 2011?
- 7. Mr. Aho's right to jury unanimity under <u>Petrich</u> was violated as to count 8.
- 8. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in answering the jury's inquiry # 2?
- 9. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in instructing the jury that a firearm is any gun-like device that is not a "toy"?
- 10. The trial court violated the time for trial rule by continuing Mr. Aho's trial date on the basis of court congestion, without documenting the basis for the continuance.

11. Did the trial court erroneously sentence Mr. Aho to three consecutive terms for his three firearm-related offenses, contrary to RCW 9.94A.589(1)(c)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. The notice given in the pre-trial information. In an information and affidavit of probable cause filed January 31, 2011, the Pierce County prosecutor notified Mr. Aho to defend against the following charges:
- on November 7, 2010, committing residential burglary of the Lake Whitman home of Bruce Gambill (count 3¹),
- theft of a ".357 revolver handgun" from the home (count 4).
- second degree unlawful possession of the firearm on that date (VUFA) (count 5);

along with charges of:

- on January 28, 2011, committing unlawful possession of a controlled substance (count 6),
- unlawful use of drug paraphernalia (count 7, misdemeanor), and
- second degree unlawful possession of a 9mm firearm (count 8), committed on that date (charged as ownership, possession and control of the firearm), when Mr. Aho was arrested at the residence of his girlfriend, former co-defendant Jill Newkirk, who plead guilty.

CP 1-3 (information); CP 4-5 (affidavit).

According to the State's allegations, Nathan Rolfe, along with Mr. Aho, Ms. Newkirk, and Brandi Snow (who also pled guilty),

¹ Prior counts 1 and 2, not listed in the January 31, 2011, information pertained to co-defendant Nathan Rolfe.

agreed to a plan wherein Newkirk and Snow would go to Mr.

Gambill's house and seek his assistance with their car down by the nearby Lake, following which Mr. Rolfe and Mr. Aho would enter the residence. The women did not see Mr. Aho go into the house. Mr.

Gambill stated he found items missing from the home on his return from the Lake. However, he did not report the burglary immediately, but, using "Facebook," he eventually located Brandi Snow, and secured her help in recovering a laptop computer.

Brandi Snow testified at trial that Mr. Gambill had showed up at her home with brass knuckles, and took her grandmother's ring off her finger, and took her car, "[b]ecause of what we did." CP 1-3, 4-5; 8/22/12RP at 271.

A month later, Gambill made a report of the burglary to the Pierce County Sheriff's Office, claiming he had a .357 "Rueger" handgun stolen, and describing it in detail, along with other items he asserted were taken. CP 1-3, 4-5; Exhibit 50 and Exhibit 51 (theft report and "inventory sheet").

On January 28, 2011, deputies arrested Ms. Newkirk and Mr. Aho inside a fifth-wheel trailer home situated on the property of Ms. Newkirk's father, on January 28, 2011. Brandi Snow would later testify that she had seen Rolfe and Aho handling some type of

Western movie-style handgun (no gun was ever located) at the fifth wheel, to which the four had allegedly repaired in the hours after the burglary. A search warrant located a methamphetamine bindle, and a glass pipe, and also a .9mm handgun in Ms. Newkirk's vehicle which was the basis for the second count of unlawful firearm possession (count 8) charged against Mr. Aho. The search of the fifth wheel also located a receipt for selling gold, and a weight scale, which a Deputy stated did not have drugs on it and was never tested for any substances. CP 1-3, 4-5; 8/22/12RP at 264-66; 8/23/12RP at 342, 362-33, 399.

2. <u>Counts 4 and 5.</u> At trial, Mr. Gambill testified that the gun that was stolen from his home was a 10 mm semi-automatic magazined handgun, rather than the Ruger .357 cylindered revolver he reported to the Sheriff. 8/20/12RP at 81, 115, 8/22/12RP at 189. Deputy Filing testified that Mr. Gambill told him that his previous inventory of stolen items should simply include an additional gun, the claimed 10 mm handgun. 8/20/12RP at 115; 8/23/12RP at 377. Neither firearm, the one allegedly stolen, or the one not stolen, was ever produced.

Brandi Snow testified that the pistol she claimed she saw Mr.

Aho handle at the fifth wheel appeared to be a small, engraved.

"older western type" gun of the sort seen in movies, rather than the type seen in modern police shows. 8/22/12RP at 264, 69-270.

Before the State rested, all of its prosecution witnesses had been excused following their testimony.²

After the State rested its case, Mr. Aho moved to dismiss for failure to make out a *prima facie* case on several charges, *inter alia*, that Mr. Gambill had a .357 firearm taken, as stated in the information. The State responded by seeking to amend the information to change the specified firearm from a .357 gun to a "10mm" gun, which the court permitted over defense objections. 8/27/12RP at 483-88; CP 55-57.

However, the jury instructions for the counts, 4 (firearm theft) and 5 (VUFA, firearm possession by a felon), stated generally that the defendant was guilty on the November 7 counts if he stole "any firearm," and that he was guilty of the possession charge if he possessed "a firearm." CP 27, CP 28.

3. <u>Count 8</u>. At trial, the State had introduced the 9mm handgun found in Ms. Newkirk's car when Mr. Aho was arrested on January 28, and proved it could be fired normally. 8/27/12RP at

² 8/22/12RP at 195 (witness Gambill excused); 8/22/12RP at 241 (witness Jill Newkirk excused); 8/22/12RP at 301 (witness Brandi Snow told to step down); 8/23/12RP at 400 (Deputy Filing excused); 8/23/12RP at 437 (Deputy Baker told to step down); 8/27/12RP at 463 (drug analyst excused), 8/27/12RP at 471 (Mason allowed to step down).

470. The State also introduced a World War 1-era Enfield³ rifle that Mr. Aho's girlfriend's father gave to deputies at the time of Matthew's arrest. Mr. Aho had given the device to him a month earlier, as a rent payment for allowing him to stay in his daughter's fifth wheel on the property. When the State's last witness, its firearms examiner, testified that the Enfield was "inoperable," the prosecutor proffered a supplemental jury instruction stating that a "firearm" need not be operable, but need only be a non-toy gun. 8/27/12RP at 475-76. Over objection, the court allowed this instruction to be added; the statutory definition of "firearm" appearing earlier in the instructions, was left to remain in the packet also. CP 31; CP 37.

4. Closing argument. In the State's closing argument, the prosecutor argued on counts 4 and 5 that Mr. Gambill said it was a 10mm handgun that was stolen, and criticized the anticipated defense arguments impeaching Mr. Gambill's shifting claims. 8/27/12RP at 530, 546. The prosecutor did not argue that the jurors should all agree on one of Gambill's claims or the other.

On count 8, the prosecutor argued that the 9 mm handgun found in Jill Newkirk's car was constructively possessed by Mr.

 $^{^{\}rm 3}$ The transcript refers to the rifle as an "Infield."

Aho. 8/27/12RP at 534-36. The prosecutor did not tell the jury to disregard the alternative statutory means in the jury instructions, charging Mr. Aho with "owning" a firearm on or about January 28.

5. <u>Deliberations and jury inquiries</u>. During deliberations on August 28, the jury sent out its first note to the trial court, stating that it could not come to a unanimous decision on count 8. The jury was told to return the next day to continue deliberating. 8/28/12RP at 571-73; CP 58.

On August 29, the jury sent out its second inquiry regarding count 8, asking about the 9mm handgun and the Enfield:

Do both exhibits 48 and 49 (either/or) apply to count VIII?

CP 65; 8/29/12RP(volume III) at 4.

The State urged the court that the response was "yes." The prosecutor stated: "The two firearms, and **yes** they do relate to that same count [count 8]." (Emphasis added.) 8/29/12RP at 4. The defense argued that this went beyond closing argument.

8/29/12RP(volume III) at 4. The trial court ruled:

Well, they are the triers of fact, and so I think the more nebulous concept would be simply to say, "Just simply follow the instructions as they were given to you."

8/29/12RP("volume III") at 4. The court responded to the jury inquiry by writing,

You should follow the instructions as given to you along with your recollections of the testimony and your notes.

CP 65. The court's written answer to this second jury inquiry was given to the jury at 9:44 a.m. Supp. CP ___ (minutes of 8/29/12, 9:44 a.m. minute entry). At 9:50 a.m., the jury announced that it was ready with its verdicts. Supp. CP ___ (minutes of 8/29/12, 9:50 a.m. minute entry).

Mr. Aho was sentenced to 210 months incarceration for complicity to burglary and for the other offenses. The bulk of the total prison term was comprised of 90 months for stealing a firearm, 60 months for being a felon possessing the firearm, and 60 months for possessing a different firearm on the later date of his arrest, the terms consecutively-run. CP 83-87. He appeals. CP 88.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. COUNTS 4 AND 5 MUST BE REVERSED FOR INADEQUATE NOTICE, IMPROPER AMENDMENT, AND THE ABSENCE OF EXPRESS ASSURANCES OF JURY UNANIMITY AGREEING ON GUILT ON A CRIME CHARGED.
- (a). <u>Late amendment</u>. Following the prosecution's final witness, the forensic firearms examiner Mr. Mason, the State rested its case, then sought leave to re-open it.

MS. HAUGER: Your Honor, at this time the State rests subject to any rebuttal witnesses.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. We'll take a short recess at this time. Please do not discuss this case among yourselves or with anyone else. No social media.

(WHEREUPON, jury leaves the courtroom.)
MS. HAUGER: Your Honor, when the jury returns I do need to ask the Court for leave to reopen the State's case. Parties have previously entered into a stipulation with regards to Mr. Aho's prior felony conviction. I need to have the Court read that to the jury.

(Emphasis added.) 8/27/12RP at 477. The court granted the motion and the State then, in front of the jury, re-opened its case, and corrected the failure to introduce the evidence on the "prior felony" element of VUFA. 8/27/12RP at 480-81. When the prosecutor then rested the State's case, Mr. Aho timely raised certain motions. 8/27/12RP at 481. Counsel moved to dismiss the burglary and firearm offenses, for failure of the State to make a

prima facie case, addressed to certain accomplice issues, and the complete failure to prove the allegation in the information stating the subject matter was a .357 firearm. 8/27/12RP at 483-84; see, e.g., CP 1-3 (information, charging "That MATTHEW DAVID AHO . . . did . . . wrongfully obtain . . . a firearm, to wit: a .357 revolver handgun, belonging to Bruce Gambill[.]"); see State v. Rhinehart, 92 Wn.2d 923, 927-28, 602 P.2d 1188 (1979).

In response to the *prima facie* motion, the prosecutor argued that it could amend the information:

So at this time the State would move to amend count IV, the theft of a firearm, to allege specifically a 10 millimeter handgun as opposed to a 357 revolver.

8/27/12RP at 484. Following argument, the trial court allowed the amendment. 8/27/12RP at 485-87. With regard to any .357, the court stated that there was no prejudice to the defendant because the testimony regarding the specific handgun had been developed in direct examination and in the defense's cross examination.

8/27/12RP at 487.

An amended information was filed on that date alleging the new subject matter of a 10 mm firearm. 8/27/12RP at 487; see CP 55-57 (amended information, charging "That MATTHEW DAVID AHO . . . did . . . wrongfully obtain . . . a firearm, to wit: a 10mm

handgun, belonging to Bruce Gambill," [and] based on the same conduct [did feloniously possess] a firearm" on that date).

(b). <u>Jury Instructions</u>. Despite all of the foregoing, the 'to-convict' instructions for the firearm theft in count 4, and for the subsequent VUFA unlawful possession of the gun taken in count 5, both stated generically that the defendant need only be proven to have stolen "any firearm," or "a firearm," and to have possessed "a firearm," and did not specify either the .357 as charged in the original information, or the 10mm as charged in the later-amended information. CP 27 (Instruction 15); CP 28 (Instruction 16) ("a firearm"); CP 32 (Instruction 20) ("a firearm"); CP 33 (Instruction 21) ("a firearm").

A person is guilty of theft of a firearm if he or an accomplice commits a theft of **any** firearm.

(Emphasis added.) CP 27. The jury, which had been introduced to the original charges in the case at the time of final jury selection and opening statements, was not told of the amended charges regarding a 10mm gun. Supp. CP ___ (minutes of August 20, 2012, 10:57 am).

(c). <u>Per se prejudice</u>. In a hypothetical criminal homicide case, a charge of murder may be laid, alleging that the defendant killed John Smith in a home invasion. An amendment of the

charge, after the start of trial in which the primary witness now says John may or may not still be alive, and after the State has rested its case-in-chief, to allege instead that the defendant killed *Jane* Smith, is an amendment that charges a new subject matter and a different crime. In this case, the State's amendment of the information must be deemed categorically or *per se* prejudicial, rendering the amendment improper, and requiring a new trial.

The Washington Constitution includes a guarantee that the State will adequately inform Mr. Aho of the charges he is to meet at trial. Wash. Const. art 1, § 22 (amend. 10).

It is fundamental that under our state constitution an accused person must be informed of the criminal charge he or she is to meet at trial, and cannot be tried for an offense not charged.

(Emphasis added.) <u>State v. Markle</u>, 118 Wn.2d 424, 431-32, 823 P.2d 1101 (1992).

The applicable Court Rule, CrR 2.1, delineates the constitutional boundaries applicable to amendments during trial, with demonstrable prejudice as the touchstone. State v. Schaffer, 120 Wn.2d 616, 622-23, 845 P.2d 281 (1993). CrR 2.1(d) always precludes the State from amending an information, at any time during trial or after the prosecution rests its case, if doing so prejudices "substantial rights" of the accused. CrR 2.1 (d).

Further, the Washington Constitution imposes a rule of categorical or *per se* prejudice, applicable where the State seeks to amend the information after resting its case-in-chief. Wash. Const. art 1, § 22 (amend. 10); <u>State v. Pelkey</u>, 109 Wn.2d 484, 487-90, 745 P.2d 854 (1987). Technical, non-material amendments are not governed by this rule.⁴

Here, first, the State amended late. The State rested its case, and the defendant raised a motion entitling him to dismissal with prejudice regarding the .357, but a late amendment was permitted, apparently with relation back so as to defeat the *prima facie* motion previously raised. But see State v. Aleshire, 89 Wn.2d 67, 71, 568 P.2d 799 (1977) (amendment of information that prejudices the defendant's defense does not relate back).⁵

⁴ Under this rule, the State nonetheless may almost always amend an information to correct scrivener's errors, technical defects, and statutory miscitations, or even to correct a non-material manner of committing the crime, such as what the date was when committed so long as a limitations period is not at issue. See State v. Kiliona-Garramone, 166 Wn. App. 16, 23 and n. 6, 267 P.3d 426 (2011); State v. DeBolt, 61 Wn. App. 58, 808 P.2d 794 (1991); State v. Gosser, 33 Wn. App. 428, 656 P.2d 514 (1982); see also State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 790, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). Such amendments are a matter of form rather than material substance. Debolt, at 61-63.

⁵ A motion to dismiss for failure of the State to have made out a *prima facie* case is determined by the allegations in the existing information. <u>State v. Rhinehart</u>, 92 Wn.2d 923, 927-28, 602 P.2d 1188 (1979) (citing, <u>inter alia, State v. Dixon</u>, 78 Wn.2d 796, 802, 479 P.2d 931 (1971)). As the Court stated in Rhinehart,

The Supreme Court in <u>Pelkey</u>, addressing late amendments, articulated a bright-line constitutional rule of prejudice:

A criminal charge may **not** be amended after the State has rested its case-in-chief unless the amendment is to a lesser degree of the same charge or a lesser included offense.

(Emphasis added.) Pelkey, 109 Wn.2d at 491.

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