### NO. 43932-8-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

### MATTHEW DAVID AHO, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Beverly G. Grant

No. 11-1-00546-3

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

BRIAN WASANKARI Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 28945

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

# **

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

The defendant, however, waived these arguments by failing to propose a unanimity instruction below. *See* RP 496-521; CP 50-53.

Proposed jury instructions must be served and filed when a case is called for trial, CrR 6.15(a), and "[n]o error can be predicated on the failure of the trial court to give an instruction where no request for such an instruction was ever made." *State v. Kroll*, 87 Wn.2d 829, 843, 558 P.2d 173 (1977); *State v. Lucero*, 140 Wn. App. 782, 787, 167 P.3d 1188 (2007) (*quoting McGarvey v. City of Seattle*, 62 Wn.2d 524, 533, 384 P.2d 127 (1963), for the proposition that if a party fails to propose a desired jury instruction, that party "cannot predicate error on its omission."); RAP 2.5(a).

Indeed, in *Petrich* itself, the Supreme Court held that the defendant's failure to request an instruction informing the jury that it must unanimously agree on the same criminal act for conviction on each charge, did not waive the issue on appeal *only because* defendant "made a proper motion before the trial court, fully apprising the court of his argument and its legal basis." *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 571-72, 683 P.2d 173 (1984).

Here, the defendant argues that the trial court should have given an instruction which stated that the jury must find separate and distinct acts to support its conviction in counts IV, V, and VIII. BOA, p. 27-34, 35-47. However, he neither objected to the lack of a unanimity instruction in the trial court nor proposed such an instruction himself. *See* RP 496-521; CP 50-53.

Because a party which fails to propose a desired jury instruction, "cannot predicate error on its omission," *Lucero*, 140 Wn. App. at 787, the defendant here has waived the issue of whether the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that it must find 'separate and distinct acts' to support its convictions in counts IV and V. *See Kroll*, 87 Wn.2d at 843; *McGarvey*, 62 Wn.2d at 533. *Cf. State v. Corbett*, 158 Wn. App. 576, 591-92, 242 P.3d 52 (2010). Therefore, Defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

Even had the issue been preserved, however, a unanimity instruction would not have been necessary because the State elected the acts upon which it was relying for conviction in counts IV, V, and VIII. *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 572; *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 409.

Specifically, during her closing argument, the deputy prosecutor stated that the *10-millimeter pistol* was the subject of count IV, the November 7, 2010 theft of a firearm. RP 529-31. She elected this same 10millimeter pistol as the subject of count V, the November 7, 2010 second degree unlawful possession of a firearm. RP 531-33. Finally, with respect to count VIII, the January 28, 2011 second degree unlawful possession of a firearm, the deputy prosecutor argued that "we are talking about Exhibit No. 48, the *9-millimeter firearm* that was found inside of Jillian Newkirk's vehicle." RP 533, 541 (emphasis added).

The defendant adopted this same election of the 10-millimeter pistol for counts IV and V and the 9-millimeter for count VIII in his closing argument, as well. RP 556-60.

At no point during their arguments did either party assert that a different election of firearms to counts existed or should exist. *See* RP 522-71. Neither party asserted that the .357 revolver owned by Mr. Gambill was the basis for any of the counts, and neither party so much as

mentioned the Enfield Model 1917 rifle. *See* RP 522-71. Nor were either of these firearms mentioned in either information filed in this case or in any of the court's instructions. CP 1-3, 55-57, 8-49. Hence, the issues of whether the Enfield rifle was owned or controlled by the defendant on January 28, 2011, or whether it was in fact a "firearm," *see* BOA, p. 37-40, are simply irrelevant.

Instead, State properly elected the acts upon which it was relying for conviction in counts IV, V, and VIII, and even were the issue properly before this Court, a unanimity instruction was not necessary. *See Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 572; *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 409.

Therefore, the trial court did not err in failing to give one, and the defendant's convictions in these counts should be affirmed.

The defendant also seems to argue that because there was no unanimity instruction, there must have been substantial evidence of each of the alternative means of committing the crime charged in count VIII, and that here, there was not. BOA, p. 35-47. He specifically asserts that "[t]he alternatives 'owns a firearm' and 'controls a firearm'... were not supported" by substantial evidence as to count VIII. BOA, p. 40-46. The record shows otherwise.

"Second degree unlawful possession of a firearm is an alternative means offense committed when a convicted felon (1) owns, (2) possesses, or (3) controls a firearm." *State v. Holt*, 119 Wn. App. 712, 718, 82 P.3d 688 (2004), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Willis*, 153 Wn.2d 366 (2005).

However, it is well established "that when the crime charged can be committed by more than one means, the defendant does not have a right to a unanimous jury determination as to the alleged means used to carry out the charged crime or crimes should the jury be instructed on more than one of those means." *State v. Smith*, 159 Wn.2d 778, 783, 154 P.3d 873 (2007).

Still, "to safeguard the defendant's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict as to the alleged crime, substantial evidence of each of the relied-on alternative means must be presented." *Smith*, 159 Wn.2d at 783; *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 569.

Here, there was an instruction which required unanimity in the jury's verdict to count VIII, *see* CP 8-49 (instruction no. 22), and substantial evidence supported each of the alternative means that the defendant "(1) own[ed], (2) possesse[d], or (3) control[ed] a firearm" on or about January 28, 2011. *Holt*, 119 Wn. App. at 718; CP 8-49 (instruction no. 20).

Specifically, the defendant's girlfriend, Jill Newkirk testified that she purchased the 9 millimeter handgun, which was the subject of count VIII, for the defendant, and on January 28, 2011, sheriff's deputies found this handgun on the passenger-side floorboard of her vehicle where the defendant would likely have sat as a passenger. RP 212, 220, 233-34. When Deputy Filing asked Newkirk about that pistol, she also told him that she got the gun for the defendant and said, "we just take it out and go shooting and stuff." RP 233-34. When asked to whom she was referring when she said "we... go shooting," Newkirk testified, "Me and Matt," the defendant. RP 234. There were 9-millimeter caliber magazines and some 9-millimeter cartridges found inside the trailer in which the defendant was residing, in a box addressed to the defendant. RP 320-21, 328. No other witness disputed any of this testimony. *See* RP 66-477.

Because there was undisputed evidence that the pistol was purchased for the defendant before January 28, 2011, that the defendant had actually fired that pistol before that date, that the defendant had ammunition and magazines for this pistol on that date, and that this pistol was located in an area to which the defendant likely had access on that date, there was substantial evidence to support each of the alternatives that the defendant owned, possessed, or controlled that pistol or about January 28, 2011. *Holt*, 119 Wn. App. at 718; CP 8-49 (instruction no. 20).

Because substantial evidence of each of the relied-upon alternative means was presented, the defendant's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict as to count VIII was safeguarded. Smith, 159 Wn.2d at 783;

*Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 569.

Given that the State properly elected the acts upon which it was relying for conviction in counts IV, V, and VIII, even were the issue properly before this Court, a unanimity instruction was not necessary. *See Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 572; *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 409.

Therefore, the trial court did not err in failing to give such an instruction, and the defendant's convictions in counts IV, V, and VIII should be affirmed.

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY AS TO THE MEANING OF THE TERM "FIREARM" IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS 19 AND 25, AND EVEN HAD INSTRUCTION 25 BEEN GIVEN IN ERROR, SUCH ERROR WOULD HAVE BEEN HARMLESS.

"Jury instructions are sufficient if they are supported by substantial evidence, allow the parties to argue their theories of the case and, when read as a whole, properly inform the jury of the applicable law." *State v. Fleming*, 155 Wn. App. 489, 503-04, 228 P.3d 804 (2010) (*citing State v. Clausing*, 147 Wn.2d 620, 626, 56 P.3d 550 (2002)); *State v. Mills*, 154 Wn.2d 1, 109 P.3d 415 (2005); *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn.2d 904, 909, 976 P.2d 624 (1999). The standard for review applied to a challenge to a trial court's instructions depends on whether the trial court's decision is based upon a matter of law or of fact. *State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771, 966 P.2d 883 (1998). "[A] trial court's choice of jury instructions," is reviewable only "for abuse of discretion." *Fleming*, 155 Wn. App. at 503; *State v. Lucky*, 128 Wn.2d 727, 731, 912 P.2d 483 (1996), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 544, 947 P.2d 700 (1997); *Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998). However, "an alleged error of law in jury instructions" is reviewed *de novo*, *Fleming*, 155 Wn. App. at 503, and in the context of the instructions as a whole. *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 590, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001) (*quoting State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 654-55, 845 P.2d 289 (1993)).

In a criminal case, "[j]ury instructions, taken in their entirety, must inform the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). *See In re Winship*, 397 U.S 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); *State v. Byrd*, 125 Wn.2d 707, 713, 887 P.2d 396 (1995).

In the present case, the trial court gave the following instruction defining the term "firearm":

A "firearm" is a weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder.

CP 8-49 (instruction no. 19).

The court also gave the following instruction

A firearm need not be operable *during the commission of a crime* to constitute a "firearm" as defined in previous instructions. Instead, the relevant question is whether the firearm is a gun in fact rather than a toy gun or gun like object which is incapable of being fired.

CP 8-49 (instruction no. 25) (emphasis added).

Although the defendant argues that instruction 25 was "wrong" in that it failed to properly inform the jury of the applicable law, BOA, p. 48-49, statutory and case law shows otherwise.

RCW 9.41.010 provides that a "firearm" is "a weapon or device from which a projectile or projectiles may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder." RCW 9.41.010(7) (2011 version); RCW 9.41.010(9) (2013 version).

This Court considered this definition of "firearm" under the 2001 version of RCW 9.41.010(1), which is nearly identical to the current RCW 9.41.010 definition in *State v. Raleigh*, 157 Wn. App. 728, 733-36, 238 P.3d 1211 (2010), *review denied*, *State v. Raleigh*, 170 Wn.2d 1029, 249 P.3d 624 (2011). In that case, the defendant was challenging the sufficiency of the evidence for his unlawful possession of a firearm conviction where the firearm the defendant was found to have possessed was not operable on the date he possessed it. *Id.* at 733-34. This Court held that while under RCW 9.41.010, "[a] ''firearm'' is 'a weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder,'"

A firearm need not be operable during the commission of a crime to constitute a "firearm" within the meaning of former RCW 9.41.010(1). [*State v.*] *Faust*, 93 Wash.App. 373, 381, 967 P.2d 1284[ (1998)]. Instead, the relevant question is whether the firearm is a "gun in fact" rather than a "toy gun."

Id. at 734.

Because the current version of RCW 9.41.010(9), only adds the words "or projectiles" to the former definition, it is virtually identical to the 2001 version of RCW 9.41.010(1) interpreted by *Raleigh*. Therefore, this Court's holding in *Raleigh* is equally applicable to the current definition of firearm found in RCW 9.41.010(9).

Hence, the trial court's instruction 25, which was virtually identical to this Court's language in *Raleigh* "properly inform[ed] the jury of the applicable law." *Fleming*, 155 Wn. App. at 503-04.

This instruction is not in conflict with the court's earlier instruction

19 or with the RCW 9.41.010 definition, see BOA, p. 49, because "[a]

firearm... not... operable during the commission of a crime" under

instruction 25 may still later be made capable of firing "a projectile... by an explosive such as gunpowder" pursuant to instruction 19.

Nor can it be said that the language taken from *Raleigh* as instruction 25 was *dictum*. This Court relied on that language in holding that "Raleigh possessed a firearm as defined by former RCW 9.41.010(1)." *Raleigh*, 157 Wn. App. at 737.

Although the defendant contends that instruction 25 is in conflict with *State v. Padilla*, 95 Wn. App. 531, 978 P.2d 1113 (1999), and *State v. Pierce*, 155 Wn. App. 701, 230 P.3d 237 (2010), he does not express why this is the case. *See* BOA, p. 49.

*Pierce* did not concern itself with whether a firearm needs be operable during the commission of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm. *See Pierce*, 155 Wn. App. 701. It held that "the sentencing court exceeded its authority by entering a sentence that does not reflect the jury's findings" where "the trial court instructed the jury on deadly weapon enhancements and not firearm enhancements," but sentenced on firearm enhancements. *Id.* at 713-14. Therefore, neither instruction 25 nor this Court's holding in *Raleigh* upon which it is based, is in conflict with *Pierce. Pierce* is simply inapposite to the instant case.

Although *Padilla* did "hold that a disassembled firearm that can be rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time

period is a firearm within the meaning of RCW 9.41.010(1)," this is not inconsistent with instruction 25. CP 8-49. Again, "[a] firearm... not... operable during the commission of a crime" under instruction 25 may still "be rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period is a firearm within the meaning of RCW 9.41.010" and *Padilla*.

Thus, instruction 25 was consistent with statutory and case law, and "properly inform[ed] the jury of the applicable law." *Fleming*, 155 Wn. App. at 503-04. As a result, the trial court did not error in using it to instruct the jury, and the defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

However, even were instruction 25 given in error, such error was harmless.

"[A] jury instruction that relieves the prosecution of its burden of proof is subject to harmless error analysis." *State v. Jennings*, 111 Wn. App. 54, 62, 44 P.3d 1 (2002); *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999).

"An error is harmless if it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that it did not contribute to the verdict. *State v. L.B.*, 132 Wn. App. 948, 954, 135 P.3d 508 (2006). "Applied to an element omitted from, or misstated in, a jury instruction, the error was harmless if that element is supported by uncontroverted evidence." *L.B.*, 132 Wn. App. at 954 (*quoting State v.*  *Eaker*, 113 Wn. App. 111, 120, 53 P.3d 37 (2002) (*quoting State v. Jennings*, 111 Wn. App. 54, 64, 44 P.3d 1 (2002)).

In the present case, each of the firearm counts, IV, V, and VIII, were based on firearms which were found to be operable. As described above, the State elected the 10-millimeter pistol as the firearm at issue in counts IV and V, RP 529-31, and the 9-millimeter pistol as the firearm at issue in count VIII. RP 533, 541. There was uncontroverted evidence in the record that both the 10-millimeter and 9-millimeter pistols were operable. RP 82, 472-73. Bruce Gambill testified that he had fired the 10-millimeter pistol previously and that it functioned normally, describing it as "a good gun." RP 82. Forensics Investigator Mason test-fired the 9-millimeter pistol and found that it was "capable of firing a projectile by means of an explosive such as gunpowder." RP 472-73. No one disputed this testimony. *See* RP 66-477. The fact that the Enfield rifle may be considered a "firearm" under instruction 25 is simply irrelevant.

The element of possession of a "firearm" as defined in RCW 9.41.010 was "supported by uncontroverted evidence." *L.B.*, 132 Wn. App. at 954, and any error in giving instruction 25 was harmless.

Therefore, the defendant's convictions should be affirmed.

4. THE DEFENDANT WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO CLAIM A VIOLATION OF THE TIME FOR TRIAL PROVISIONS OF CRIMINAL RULE 3.3 BY FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE NOW CONTESTED CONTINUANCES BELOW AND EVEN HAD HE NOT WAIVED THIS RIGHT, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THESE CONTINUANCES PURSUANT THE TIME FOR TRIAL PROVISIONS OF CRIMINAL RULE 3.3.

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